RECEIVED

Jul 30 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Hampton County

Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TIFFANY REBECCA OWENS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-000085

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court's decision to deny Appellant immunity from prosecution under the Protection of Persons and Property Act was based on legal errors and on factual findings which were without support in the record, and thus Appellant's convictions require reversal?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 3, 2022, a Hampton County Grand Jury indicted Tiffany Rebecca Owens, Appellant, for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 529 – 532. On November 9, 2022, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Robert J. Bonds for a hearing pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act. Appellant was represented by H. Fred Kuhn, Jr. Reed A. Evans prosecuted the case. R. 1. On or about November 30, 2022, the court issued an order denying immunity from prosecution. R. 62 – 70.

Appellant was tried before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen and a jury, on January 8, 2024, and January 10 – 11, 2024. R. 89; R. 92; R. 424. Appellant was convicted of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter, and of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. She was sentenced to serve concurrent terms of imprisonment of twenty years for voluntary manslaughter and five years for the weapons charge. R. 533 – 536; R. 512, l. 19 – 513, l. 17; R. 526, ll. 15-22.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A claim of immunity under the [Protection of Persons and Property Act] requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard, which this court reviews under an abuse of discretion standard of review.” *State v. Curry*, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013) (citing *State v. Duncan*, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011)). “A circuit court abuses its discretion when its ruling is based on an error of law, or when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *State v. Cervantes-Pavon*, 426 S.C. 442, 449, 827 S.E.2d 564, 567 (2019).

ARGUMENT

The court's decision to deny Appellant immunity from prosecution under the Protection of Persons and Property Act was based on legal errors and on factual findings which were without support in the record, thus Appellant's convictions require reversal.

A. Appellant was attacked by Decedent while Appellant was in her own car at the grocery store.

i. The attack

On May 29, 2021, at the Galaxy grocery store parking lot in Estill, Tiffany Owens (Appellant) was viciously attacked by Tijuana Johnson (Decedent). R. 117, l. 20 – 118, l. 18; R. 213, l. 18 – 214, l. 3; Defense Exhibit #1. Appellant was four-and-a-half or five months pregnant and had a cast on one arm from a car accident. R. 370, l. 13 – 371, l. 20; R. 11, ll. 13-22. Decedent did not like Appellant because Appellant's sister was involved with Decedent's ex-boyfriend. R. 352, l. 22 – 354, l. 21; R. 360, l. 20 – 361, l. 14. When Decedent was going into the store, Appellant was in her car out front. Appellant had her window down and was waiting on her boyfriend. Decedent began cursing at Appellant and the two women exchanged words. Decedent had been using the drug ketamine, which causes aggression. State's Exhibit #8; R. 361, l. 15 – 364, l. 6; R. 332, l. 17 – 334, l. 20; R. 390, ll. 4-6.

Appellant called her mother to complain about Decedent's outburst. Appellant's mother told her she would call the police, and Appellant decided to leave. R. 365, l. 16 – 367, l. 6; R. 383, l. 1 – 385, l. 23. It was undisputed that Appellant's mother hung up and called the police. The 911 call by Appellant's mother, which was entered into evidence at trial, was made two minutes before a 911 call came in about the shooting. R. 115, ll. 7-22; State's Exhibit #7. Decedent came out of the store. Appellant began to drive off and she headed directly for the exit

by turning left and going down the main aisle to the exit. State's Exhibit #8; R. 366, l. 14 – 367, l. 6.

While Appellant's car was still moving, Decedent ran up to Appellant's car and began to savagely and repeatedly punch her through the open car window using her keys as a weapon. Appellant hit the brakes because she could not see to drive with Decedent hitting her. State's Exhibit #8; R. 150, l. 14 – 152, l. 9; R. 163, ll. 8-17; R. 367, ll. 4-8; R. 401, ll. 1-24; R. 23, ll. 3-4. In addition to being punched, Appellant would have bloody scratches on her breast and a bruise on her arm from Decedent's attack. State's Exhibit #9; R. 255, ll. 7-15; R. 263, ll. 12-20. Law enforcement would recover Decedent's keys from inside Appellant's car. R. 187, l. 20 – 188, l. 7.

Decedent also grabbed Appellant's car door handle and pulled on the door, but it was locked. Appellant grabbed her gun from the console in self-defense, and the women struggled over the gun. Two shots were fired. State's Exhibit #8; R. 367, ll. 8-23; R. 406, l. 24 – 408, l. 23; R. 23, ll. 5-6. One shot went wide but one shot struck Decedent in the chest. This all happened in a matter of seconds. As soon as Decedent took a step away from Appellant's car, Appellant drove off. Appellant went to her mother's house. She turned herself in at the police station later that day. Defense Exhibit #1; R. 71; R. 320, l. 20 – 322, l. 17; State's Exhibit #9; R. 249, ll. 1-24.

A video surveillance camera from the business captured the fatal encounter on film. It caught the speed and viciousness with which Decedent attacked Appellant. See Defense Exhibit #1.

ii. The immunity hearing

A pretrial immunity hearing was held. The video of the fatal altercation was entered as Defendant's Exhibit #1, and it is on file with this Court. R. 2; R. 4, ll. 15-20. The exhibit contained several segments of film. It is the segment labeled "Ch32_20210529172955" which contained the fatal encounter.¹ Appellant's black car is parked at the top of the image, towards the left, partially eclipsed by a pillar. The Decedent is wearing all yellow. The bag boy is in a blue t-shirt. The fatal encounter takes place at the very top of the screen.

Watching the video once while looking only at Appellant's car shows her car stopped at exactly 0:01:40. Watching the video again while only looking at Decedent shows Decedent threw her first visible punch at that same moment, 0:01:40. Watching the video a third time while only looking at Decedent shows Decedent began moving towards Appellant at 0:01:38. Watching the video a fourth time and only looking at Appellant's car confirms that Appellant's car was still moving at 0:01:38. Decedent ran up to Appellant's car while Appellant was still driving. Appellant did not stop the car until she was being attacked. Defense Exhibit #1.

Decedent was clearly depicted striking Appellant, and it also appears she was grabbing Appellant's door handle. The car was shaking from the fight. It appears the shots may have been fired at 0:01:47 and 0:01:48. As soon as the shots repelled Decedent's attack and Decedent began to move away from Appellant's car, Appellant drove off and left the parking lot via the exit directly in front of her. Defense Exhibit #1.

¹ When viewing the video, it is helpful to move your mouse so that the cursor is no longer over the video image or the video player. Moving your mouse cursor off the video image and player to another part of your desktop will cause the dark band at the top of the video to disappear after a few seconds so that the video may be viewed without obstruction.

Appellant testified that she knew Decedent because they were raised in the same neighborhood, although Decedent was older than her. Decedent “had some problems with” Appellant’s sister. R. 5, l. 24 – 7, l. 6. Appellant’s relationship with Decedent became “antagonistic” because Appellant’s sister became involved with Decedent’s “son’s father.” Appellant stated Decedent was “known to fight.” R. 6, l. 14 – 7, l. 15.

Appellant explained that the day of the attack, she was at the grocery store waiting to meet her boyfriend.² Appellant had done some of the shopping and was waiting on her boyfriend to bring some money so she could go back in to buy the rest of the groceries. R. 7, l. 16 – 8, l. 19. Appellant was sitting in her car in front of the store. Decedent came up to Appellant and said, “Oh, you’re not going to speak to me?” Appellant told Decedent she had not noticed her. Decedent accused Appellant of lying and began cursing at Appellant. Decedent told Appellant she should leave the store and Appellant “better not be there when she gets back.” R. 8, l. 20 – 9, l. 12. When Decedent went in the store, Appellant opened her back door to look for her cell phone. Appellant called her mother and told her what had happened with Decedent. Appellant stated she called her mother because she was worried Decedent might “jump on” her. R. 9, l. 6 – 10, l. 3.

Appellant testified her mother told her to leave, and that she would call the police. Decedent was coming out of the store at that point. Appellant stated when she tried to leave, Decedent “jumped in my window, striking me. I just felt burning and s[aw] a little blood. I didn’t know where it was coming from or what happened. I thought maybe it was a knife or something, but it was her car keys that she was striking me with.” R. 10, ll. 5-20.

² Another video segment contained on Defense Exhibit #1, labeled “Ch32_20210529171817_1,” showed Appellant when she first arrived at the store, walking in to do her shopping. Appellant was wearing a red shirt and blue shorts.

Appellant stated she felt Decedent cutting her on the neck and shoulder. Appellant said she was in fear for her life. She said she was not in good shape. She was pregnant and had a cast on her arm from a car accident. Appellant grabbed her weapon from the console to try to repel Decedent. "I thought it would scare her, but she grabbed it, and then when she grabbed it I shot her. I panicked." R. 10, l. 25 – 11, l. 22. Appellant stated she was in fear for her own life and for that of her unborn child. R. 12, ll. 1-3.

Appellant noted Decedent was acting "erratic and upset," as if she were intoxicated. Appellant stated she did not understand why Decedent was so upset with her: "She was just very erratic and upset with me, and I couldn't understand why because I honestly did not see her. I went that day to get my food and go home with no intent to hurt anybody, so I don't understand where the anger came from, but I tried to leave." R. 12, ll. 1-16.

On cross-examination, the solicitor asked Appellant if she had the opportunity to leave before Decedent came out of the store, and Appellant agreed she did. Appellant stated she did not leave because she "didn't know it would result in that. I didn't know she would come attack me in my car as I'm trying to leave." Appellant stated she was going to wait on the police but decided to leave on her mother's advice, and because Decedent said, "You still here?" and began to curse at Appellant again as she was walking from the store. R. 15, l. 21 – 19, l. 2. Appellant still had her cell phone in her left hand. Appellant stated she did not slow down or talk back at Decedent. Decedent ran up to Appellant's car. R. 20, l. 12 – 21, l. 14. Appellant testified she only stopped the car when Decedent began striking her. "I couldn't pull her off because it's like when she was striking me I couldn't see. I didn't want to just run off and just wreck or something like that. I was actually trying to get away." R. 22, ll. 15-21.

Appellant explained that Decedent was pulling on her door handle. When asked why she had her foot on the brakes, Appellant stated: “Because how was I gonna go anywhere? How was I gonna see? All I know, I thought she was cutting me with something, but it was the car keys. I felt blood and I felt burning at that point. I had to save myself, because she had already tried to get the door open. My door was locked.” R. 23, ll. 1-6.

Appellant stated she did not remember telling Decedent, “Don’t worry I’ll be here when you get out” as Decedent walked into the store. R. 21, ll. 1 19-25. Appellant confirmed she turned herself in at the police station. R. 23, ll. 7-9.

The defense introduced five exhibits at the hearing, which are all on file with this Court.³ One of the exhibits was body camera footage of witness statements at the scene, including one man’s comment to law enforcement that: “she just turned right here and that girl beelined to her and went straight to her window and just started beating the hell out of her. Next thing you know you saw her jump back, I said, yup, she just got shot.” Another witness stated, “old girl right here went in her window.” *See* Defense Exhibit #2.

Additionally, the defense introduced a copy of the pathology report, which included the toxicology report. R. 71 – 88. The toxicology report showed Decedent had ketamine in her system, as well as cannabinoids. R. 80. The pathology report showed that Decedent was thirty-seven years old and weighed two hundred and thirteen pounds. R. 71 – 72. The defense also introduced photographs which showed drugs found in Decedent’s car. *See* Defense Exhibit #4.

Finally, the defense entered three written witness statements. Defense Exhibit #5, 1-11. One statement was that of seventy-three-year-old Alexander Singleton, who stated that he was in the Galaxy grocery store the day of the shooting when Decedent approached him and began to

³ The written statements are located in the Record on Appeal. The photographs and video footage have been transported to the Court.

curse him for no reason. “I think the Saturday before Memorial Day I was at the Galaxy buying food. I was approached by the lady who got shot. This was prior to the shooting. I was inside the Galaxy by the seasoning salt when the woman who got shot started cussing me for no reason—she told me ‘mother fucker I’m back.’” Mr. Singleton stated after he left, he later heard the woman was shot. Mr. Singleton stated this was not the first time he had been cursed at by Decedent; she had cursed at him a few days before at the “3 Way.” Defense Exhibit #5, statement of Alexander Singleton at 1.

Another statement was that of Appellant’s sister, Ana Marie Fields, who stated that Decedent was a “person that is aggressive and she was always a bully . . . This has been going on for many years . . . It is my opinion that when she can’t get to me she finds a way to go after my sister.” Defense Exhibit #5, statement of Ana Fields at 1. Finally, in the statement of Appellant’s mother, Jeanette Fields, Mrs. Fields confirmed that Appellant was indeed pregnant and had a cast on her arm. Mrs. Fields stated Appellant had called her from the grocery store just prior to the shooting, and complained about Decedent cursing at her. Mrs. Fields stated she told Appellant to leave, and Mrs. Fields called 911 and asked for police to respond to the grocery store. Shortly thereafter, the shooting occurred, and Appellant drove home frantic and crying. Mrs. Fields took Appellant to the police station around 5:30 or 6:00 p.m. Defense Exhibit #5, statement of Jeanette Fields at 1-4.

Appellant asked the court to find she was immune from prosecution. R. 34, ll. 8-9; R. 35, ll. 16-18. Defense counsel argued that although the State had “made a lot of the fact that Tiffany did not leave when she saw Ms. Johnson,” “[t]here is no duty to retreat.” R. 31, ll. 20-25 (emphasis added). “*The question is did she have a – was she in fear for her life when Ms. Johnson attacked her.* This case is somewhat unique. We have video that shows conclusively

that my client was being attacked. She was in her car, a place she had a right to be, doing something she had a right to do when Ms. Johnson” attacked. R. 32, ll. 8-15 (emphasis added). Defense counsel handed the court a copy of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 and noted Appellant was entitled to a “presumption of reasonable fear of imminent peril” since the decedent was “in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering an occupied vehicle.” R. 33, ll. 19-24.

The solicitor argued that although Appellant had no duty to retreat, whether she had the “ability to retreat” should be considered by the court. The solicitor argued it was not “the end of the inquiry if somebody is attacked,” because that would be granting anyone in a car a “license to kill.” R. 38, l. 21 – 39, l. 1.

B. The circuit court concluded Appellant was not entitled to immunity from prosecution.

On or about November 30, 2022, the circuit court issued an order denying Appellant immunity. R. 62 – 70. The order cited to the video of the grocery store parking lot.⁴ The judge thought that Appellant should have avoided driving past Decedent. The order reflected the following findings. “From the security camera video, it seems there are multiple paths that Owens could have taken to exit the store’s parking lot. She turned up the middle lane of the parking lot, directly towards Johnson. She appeared to be speaking to Johnson while driving, although she disputed that on cross-examination during the hearing.” R. 65. “Owens testified that Johnson was wielding her car keys as a makeshift weapon and swinging her fists at her . . .

⁴ The order stated the video was a court’s exhibit. The Hampton County Clerk of Court’s Office has no court’s exhibits from this hearing. As seen, the defense introduced several video segments as Defense Exhibit #1, which is on file with this Court. However, the copy of this exhibit that was received by undersigned counsel from the Clerk’s Office does not contain the segment with Appellant and Decedent’s initial exchange of words. It is unclear whether this was a copying error. Appellant has therefore designated State’s Exhibit #8 (from the trial), which contains both the fatal event and the initial exchange of words.

Owens testified that she was afraid for her life, and that Johnson was attempting to open her car door. Owens said that she showed Johnson her gun, attempting to frighten her into withdrawing, but Johnson did not. Owens testified that she did not know where the anger came from.” R. 65.

The order concluded Appellant did not establish self-defense because Appellant’s actions in driving past Decedent rather than taking another route out of the parking lot meant that Appellant 1) brought about the difficulty, 2) did not actually believe she was in imminent danger, and 3) that any belief she was in imminent danger was unreasonable. R. 69 – 70. The court also found Appellant’s testimony she was in fear was not credible since she drove towards Decedent. R. 70.

As to the first element of self-defense, the order stated the following. “Evidence exists that shows Owens did contribute to the difficulty. Having viewed the video, it appears that Owens continued her prior verbal argument with Johnson after Johnson had left the store and appeared to be going about her business. Owens attempted to leave the store’s parking lot only after Johnson had exited the store. Owens testified that as soon as she finished her conversation with her mother, who told her to leave, Owens began to leave but this was at the same time Johnson was exiting the store.” R. 67 – 68. “It is clear that when Owens decided to put her car in drive and depart, that she chose a route taking her directly past where Johnson stood. Owens had other routes she could have taken to exit the store’s parking lot, but she chose a path that took her directly next to Johnson.” R. 68. “It is not believable that Owens’ conversation with her mother ended, and Owens began to leave the store’s parking lot, at the exact moment Johnson was exiting the store.” “Johnson’s physical pivot from her own car to Owens’, followed by what was without question a physical attack, was so abrupt it is more likely than not that she

was provoked by some word or phrase uttered by Owens.” R. 68. Thus, the evidence shows that Owens was not completely at fault without bringing on the difficulty.” R. 68.

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