RECEIVED

Jul 30 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HAMPTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Robert J. Bonds, Circuit Court Judge
Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000085

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

TIFFANY REBECCA OWENS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BRIAN H. GIBBS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104137

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone: 803-734-3727

I. MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, South Carolina 29910

Attorneys for Respondent

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Appellant's Issue Statement

Whether the court's decision to deny Appellant immunity from prosecution under the Protection of Persons and Property Act was based on legal errors and on factual findings which were without support in the record, and thus Appellant's convictions require reversal?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In November 2022, a Hampton County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. (R. 529-532).

In August 2022, prior to indictment, Appellant filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to section 16-11-420. (R. 48). In her motion, Appellant asserted that Tijuana Deloach (Victim) was known to be aggressive and known to have issues with Appellant. (R. 48-49). Appellant summarized a surveillance video recording of the incident which resulted in Victim's death. (R. 49-50). Appellant argued she had a reasonable fear of Victim due to Victim's reputation for causing trouble and Victim's fourteen-year-old arrest for criminal domestic violence. (R. 50). Appellant asserted that she was not engaged in unlawful activity, was threatened and attacked by Victim, had no duty to retreat, had the right to engage in self-defense, and reasonably believed her actions were necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to herself or another. (R. 51).

On November 3, 2022, the State filed a memorandum of law in response to Appellant's motion. (R. 52). The State also summarized a surveillance video of the incident. (R. 54-55). The State argued Appellant could not show that she was without fault in bringing on the difficulty. (R. 56). The State asserted that contrary to Appellant's assertion Victim followed her to the grocery store, the surveillance video showed that Victim did not arrive at the store until after Appellant had exited the store and returned to her car. (R. 56). When Appellant saw Victim, Appellant engaged in a conversation with Victim. (R. 56). The State asserted that rather than leaving the parking lot after the initial conversation with Victim, Appellant remained in her car and waited for Victim to exit the store. (R. 56). When Victim exited the store, Appellant drove toward Victim, holding up an object and facing Victim directly. (R. 56). The State argued that due to Appellant's actions as displayed in the video, Appellant sought out a confrontation with Victim; therefore, the State

asserted that the court should find by a preponderance of the evidence that Appellant brought on the difficulty herself and that the provisions of the Protection of Persons and Property Act should not apply. (R. 56).

The State also argued that Appellant's fear was not reasonable. (R. 57). Arguing that if the court determined Appellant could establish a valid claim of self-defense, the State asserted the rebuttable presumption created under section 16-11-440(A) of the South Carolina Code—a presumption of reasonableness on the part of those using deadly force against others attempting to enter their occupied vehicles—was rebutted. (R. 57). The State asserted that Appellant was not a helpless driver who was suddenly and unsuspectingly attacked by a carjacker; rather, this was an ongoing argument between two individuals familiar with each other, in which one of the individuals goaded the other into an escalation. (R. 57). The State contended that Appellant knew Victim had no intention of taking Appellant's car because the confrontation occurred immediately adjacent to Victim's own vehicle. (R. 57). The State also argued that while Appellant did not have a duty to retreat, her ability to retreat by moving her foot from the brake pedal to the accelerator pedal should be considered evidence that her alleged fear was not reasonable. (R. 57).

On November 9, 2022, Appellant proceeded to a pretrial stand-your-ground hearing before the Honorable Robert J. Bonds. (R. 1). Appellant testified that she had known Victim since childhood. (R. 6). According to Appellant, she and Victim did not have many problems until her sister became involved with the father of Victim's son. (R. 6). Appellant tried to avoid Victim. (R. 6). However, Appellant stated Victim's attitude toward her was antagonistic and Victim always wanted to know why Appellant did not acknowledge or speak to her. (R. 7). Appellant testified she was afraid of Victim and knew of Victim's reputation for violence. (R. 7).

On the day of the incident, Appellant went to the grocery store to purchase groceries. (R. 7). She was supposed to meet her boyfriend at the grocery store. (R. 7). She arrived before her boyfriend and went inside to purchase some items. (R. 8). Appellant left the store before her boyfriend arrived. (R. 8). She stated that after she exited the store, she noticed Victim had "followed" her to the store and "was waiting outside." (R. 8). Appellant waited for her boyfriend in her car with the door open. (R. 8). As Victim approached the store, she saw Appellant and said, "Oh, you're not going to speak to me?" (R. 8-9). Appellant told Victim that she had not seen her approach. (R. 9). Appellant stated that Victim began cursing and accused her of lying. (R. 9). Victim told Appellant that Appellant "better not be there when [Victim got] back." (R. 9). Appellant confirmed she had a chance to leave after Victim entered the store. (R. 15-16). However, Appellant did not leave because she did not know Victim would "come attack [her] in [her] car as [she was] trying to leave." (R. 16). Appellant confirmed that Nash Elliott made a statement that before Victim entered the store, Appellant told Victim that she would still be in the parking lot when Victim exited the store. (R. 21). Appellant could not recall if her words matched Elliott's statement. (R. 21).

Appellant called her mother because she was afraid and thought "something was going to happen" because Victim told her not to be at the store when Victim left the store. (R. 9-10). Appellant testified she asked her mother to call law enforcement. (R. 10). According to Appellant, her mother told her that she would call law enforcement and that Appellant needed to leave. (R. 10). Appellant stated her phone call with her mother ended as Victim was coming out of the store. (R. 10). Appellant stated that when Victim left the store, Victim was walking with a store employee but was talking to her rather than the employee. (R. 18).

When Appellant went to leave, Victim "jumped in" her window and struck her. (R. 10). Appellant testified to feeling burning and seeing "a little blood." (R. 10). Appellant denied driving up next to Victim and slowing down. (R. 20). However, she confirmed she stopped her car when Victim began striking her because she could not see after Victim hit her. (R. 22). Appellant initially thought Victim struck her with a knife but noticed that Victim struck her with car keys. (R. 10). Appellant sustained cuts on her neck/shoulder area. (R. 10-11). Appellant stated that she was unable to pull Victim off her because she could not see after Victim began striking her. (R. 22). Appellant stated that she was afraid for her life, so she retrieved a gun from her center console to "scare" Victim. (R. 11). However, according to Appellant, when Victim grabbed Appellant's gun, Appellant "panicked" and shot Victim. (R. 11).

At the time of the incident, Appellant had a splint on her right arm due to a previous car accident. (R. 11). She was also four and a half months pregnant. (R. 11). Appellant stated that she thought Victim may have been intoxicated during the incident. (R. 12). However, Appellant stated she did not intend to hurt anyone and did not "know where the anger came from." (R. 12). Appellant testified she went to her mother's house and told her mother what happened. (R. 12). Her mother then drove her to the police station. (R. 12).

The court reviewed the surveillance video,¹ which does not have sound. (R. 23-25). The video shows Appellant arriving at the grocery store at 16:19:40. (State's Ex. 8). She parked in the fire lane, exited her vehicle, and went into the store. (State's Ex. 8). At 16:24:56, Appellant exited

¹ The surveillance video is on file with this Court as Defendant's Exhibit 1 in five sequential videos. These videos were consolidated for trial in State's Exhibit 8, which is also on file, in a video file named "Consolidated_Exhibit1.mp4." Additionally, State's Exhibit 8 contains a second video ("Shortened_Exhibit1.mp4"), which is a 55 second clip from the consolidated video starting at the time Victim exited the store and ending when Appellant left the parking lot. The surveillance videos contain a timestamp within the footage, which is cited to in this brief.

the store and returned to her vehicle. (State's Ex. 8). At 16:25:33, Victim first appears walking toward the store from the parking lot. (State's Ex. 8). Her vehicle is not in frame. (State's Ex. 8). From 16:25:50 to 16:26:42, Appellant and Victim speak to each other. (State's Ex. 8). As Victim walked away from Appellant and toward the store, Appellant opened her car door and stands up to continue addressing Victim. (State's Ex. 8). Victim exited the frame when she entered the store. (State's Ex. 8).

At 16:31:06, Victim exited the store. (State's Ex. 8). She walks back in the direction from which she initially appeared. (State's Ex. 8). Victim was followed by a store employee, who was pulling a cart of groceries. (State's Ex. 8). At 16:31:13, Victim waived to someone on her right. (State's Ex. 8). Two seconds later, she turns her head to her left, in Appellant's direction, and appears to speak while not deviating from her path. (State's Ex. 8). At 16:31:29, Victim and the store employee reach the top of the frame. (State's Ex. 8). At the same time, Appellant begins to drive, having sat idle in the fire lane for almost five minutes since the end of her initial conversation with Victim. (State's Ex. 8).

Appellant makes a left turn down a lane of the parking lot, directly toward Victim. (State's Ex. 8, State's Ex. 38). Appellant appeared to be holding an object and facing Victim out of her driver's door window. (State's Ex. 8). At 16:31:34, Appellant got Victim's attention, and Victim began to approach Appellant's car while the car was moving at a slow rate of speed. (State's Ex. 8). Victim took a few steps toward the car before she sped up. (State's Ex. 8). Victim reached Appellant's car as the car came to stop. (State's Ex. 8). Victim swung her fists toward Appellant through Appellant's open window. (State's Ex. 8). From the video, it is unclear whether and to what extent Victim was able to strike Appellant. (State's Ex. 8). Appellant later presented injuries that she stated Victim inflicted upon her, which can be seen to some extent in State's Exhibit 9.

In the video, Victim and Appellant struggle. (State's Ex. 8). At 16:31:41, a puff of emerges from Appellant's car, after which Victim stumbles backward and falls to the ground. (State's Ex. 8). Appellant then begins to drive away, pausing at 16:31:46 when Victim falls to the ground. (State's Ex. 8). At 16:31:48, Appellant pulls away again and turns left out of the parking lot. (State's Ex. 8). By 16:32:01, Appellant's car is out of frame. (State's Ex. 8).

After hearing Appellant's testimony and reviewing the video, Judge Bonds heard arguments on whether Appellant was entitled to immunity. (R. 31). Appellant argued that she did not have a duty to retreat because she was lawfully in the grocery store parking lot, where she had a right to be, and she had no obligation to leave when she saw Victim. (R. 31-32). Appellant asserted that Victim attacked her while she was in a place she had a right to be doing something she had a right to do. (R. 32). Appellant argued that the video showed Victim raising her fist and striking Appellant through the window upon Victim reaching Appellant's car. (R. 33). According to Appellant, the video also shows Victim attempting to open Appellant's car door. (R. 33). She asserted that two eyewitnesses and the video all confirm that Victim attacked her. (R. 33). Appellant argued that everything that happened before Victim attacked her set the stage for the incident because of the history between the two. (R. 33). Appellant claimed she was afraid of Victim and that Victim was aggressive and upset. (R. 33).

Appellant argued that section 16-11-440 of the South Carolina Code creates a presumption of reasonable fear of imminent peril when someone is in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering an occupied vehicle. (R. 33). She contended that section 16-11-440 applied in this case. (R. 33). Judge Bonds stated that the video actually showed that the two witnesses were inside the store when the incident occurred. (R. 34). Appellant corrected her argument, stating that the video does not show where the two witnesses were during the incident. (R. 34). Appellant concluded

by stating that she was in her car attempting to leave the parking lot when Victim ran toward her and began beating her up. (R. 35).

The State reminded Judge Bonds that he needed to make a factual finding and that merely finding the evidence in conflict was not enough. (R. 36). The State reiterated that Appellant bore the burden to show self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence to obtain immunity. (R. 36). The State agreed that Appellant did not need to show a duty to retreat and that the court did not need to determine whether Appellant retreated. (R. 36).

Regarding the first element of self-defense (that Appellant was without fault in bringing on the difficulty), the State argued that the video was directly contradictory to Appellant's testimony. (R. 37). Appellant testified that when Victim exited the store, they were immediately back into their argument, with Victim cursing at her and making her feel unsafe. (R. 37). However, the State noted that when Victim left the store, she waived to someone opposite from Appellant before proceeding directly to where her car was parked, all while accompanied by a store employee. (R. 37). The State acknowledged that the store employee made a statement in which he said both women were cursing at each other. (R. 37-38).

The State asserted that Appellant's argument that Victim was the sole aggressor in this incident was inaccurate. (R. 38). Appellant testified that she did not slow down when she decided to leave; however, the video shows otherwise. (R. 38). The State argued that Appellant had every opportunity to leave while Victim was in the store; even though Victim did not have a duty to retreat, she had the opportunity to avoid the conflict completely, which the court should consider for the reasonableness of Appellant's actions. (R. 38). The State contended that when Victim came out of the store, Appellant drove her car directly toward Victim and "quite clearly slows down as

she's getting close to [Victim]." (R. 38). The State noted that Appellant came to a complete stop as she approached Victim. (R. 38).

The State argued that Appellant's theory that if someone is attacked in their car, then a presumption of reasonable fear applies without considering reasonableness was incorrect. (R. 38-39). The State reasoned that such a theory would mean that the Legislature essentially granted everyone in this state a license to kill as long as they are in a car. (R. 39). The State asserted the Legislature did not mean such an outcome. (R. 39). The State, discussing eyewitness testimony about the interaction before Victim entered the store, argued that Appellant had been heard telling Victim that she would be waiting for Victim outside of the store. (R. 39-40). The State asserted that Appellant goaded Victim into some kind of confrontation after Victim left the store, which can be seen on the video. (R. 40).

Regarding the element of reasonable fear of imminent peril or death, the State acknowledged that section 16-11-440(A) of the South Carolina Code presumes a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury if the person against whom deadly force is used was in the process of unlawfully and forcibly entering an occupied vehicle. (R. 40). The State asserted that the only evidence of Victim attempting to open the car door came from Appellant, who was an interested party.² (R. 41). The State did not deny a physical fight occurred when Victim approached Appellant's car after leaving the store. (R. 41).

The State averred that when deadly force is introduced, a determination of reasonableness is critical. (R. 41). The State argued that Appellant was in a running car and sought out Victim. (R. 41). The State asserted Appellant was not an anonymous victim getting into her car when she

² In the video of the incident, the point of view is from the rear passenger side of Appellant's car. The video does not show the driver's side of Appellant's car during the incident. (State's Ex. 8).

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